Ombudsman Investigation Report - Mobility Allowance

Appendix 3

Correspondence with Department of Health and Children

Our Reference: HC8/08/2204

3 February 2009

Ms. Bairbre Nic Aonghusa

Director

Office for Disability and Mental Health
Department of Health and Children
Hawkins House

Dublin 2.

Dear Ms. Nic Aonghusa,

The Ombudsman is examining a complaint received ftr. John Browne, Athlone, Co.
Roscommon on behalf of his sister Ms. Mary BrowAiJone, Co. Roscommon concerning
the refusal of the HSE West to award her a MobAitpwance.

Ms Browne was advised by the HSE West that herigdmn for the Allowance was

rejected because she was not considered eligillerdhe Mobility Allowance scheme, on
age grounds, as she is over 66 years of age. Aargoaware, a Mobility Allowance is
payable, under Section 61 of the Health Act 19%d,ia accordance with the terms of an
administrative scheme drawn up under Departmehtealth Circular 15/79, to persons with
a severe disability who are resident at home arlong stay facility. Payment of the
Allowance is subject to a means test. The schemeiftes that applicants must be aged 16
years or older and under 66 years and recipiemgaatinue to receive payment after they
reach the age of 66 provided they were in recdifit@allowance prior to their 66th birthday.
An issue of concern to the Ombudsman is whetheelib#vility criteria for Mobility
Allowance, as set out in the Minister's "directio(@ircular 15/79), might be deemed to be
improperly discriminatory in two respects. Thetfiaed most fundamental concern is that the
Allowance is not available at all to a person wpplees after the age of 66 years. It is clear
that the Allowance discriminates against applicavey the age of 66 years and, on the face
of it, it would seem that this restriction is “ingprerly discriminatory" in the sense in which
this term is used in section 4(2) of the Ombudsenl980. A related concern is that the
restriction may not comply with the provisions bétEqual Status Act 2000. You will be
aware that in August 2008 the Equality Authorityrid that a woman had been discriminated
against when it ruled in her favour in a case sitblirought to the Authority, against the
HSE, when she was refused a grant under a sinciense (Motorised Transport Grant) on
the grounds that she was over 66 years of agalétads attached). The second concern is



that the Allowance discriminates within the overg&fe group in that a person already
benefiting from allowance before age 66 will congrto get the Allowance after 66 years
whereas a person over 66, not already benefitngxcluded from the scheme. Again, this
restriction would seem, on the face of it, to beproperly discriminatory"” in the sense in
which this term is used in section 4(2) of the Odgan Act 1980.

In light of the above, and to assist the Ombudsmédmer consideration of the options as to
how to progress her examination of this compldintpuld be grateful for the views of the
Department on whether it is appropriate to contittuestain a qualifying upper age limit for
eligibility under the Mobility Allowance scheme.

If you would like to speak to me about the matyeny are welcome to ring me at 01-
6395650.

Yours sincerely

Fintan Butler
Senior Investigator
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Senior Investigimor
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Dvear Mr Bustler

T refer w correspondonce regarding your examination of a complaint on behalf of
&m-mwmw

The Mobility Allowance was cstablished in 1979 by way of Departmental ciroular.
The porpose of the allowance i3 io provide financial suppont fo scvercly disabled
people who are unable to walk or use public transpon in order to finance the
occasional taxi jouwney. There are in excess of 4,300 recipicms of mobility sllocwance
a1 & total cost in excess of €1 1m

The Govermmem has decided that income suppon schemes operated by the HSE
should transfer 10 the Department of Social and Family AfTairs. Mobility allowance is
onc of ihe allowances schoduled for transfer 1o the Deparomem of Social and Family
Affairs. As pan of this process it is intended (0 review the policy and operation of the
mobility allowance prior 1o transfier, In the imerin, the Health Services Executive will
continpe to operate the allowances in accondance with the circular. | is not envisaged
that xny changes will be made to the allowance prior 1o the review,

While the Department appreciates the issues raised in your correspondence it is not
feasible to amend the scheme to remove the upper age limit in the correnl economic
circumstances. However, the Departroent is committed to reviewing the scheme io the
comtext of planning for its ransfer 10 cthe Depariment of Social and Family Affeirs and
the matter will be considered furber in tha comext.

Yours sincerely

AL
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Our Reference : HC8/08/2204

14 July 2009

Mr Michael Scanlan

Secretary General

Department of Health and Children
Hawkins House

Dublin 2

Dear Mr Scanlan,

The Ombudsman is currently examining a complaicgireed from Mr. John Browne,
Athlone, Co. Roscommon. The complaint was madeetvalb of his sister, Ms. Mary
Browne, Athlone, Co. Roscommon concerning the edfathe HSE West to award her a
Mobility Allowance.

The background to the complaint is as follows: Mevi&he was advised by the HSE West
that her application for the Mobility Allowance haden rejected because she was not
considered eligible under the governing schemeagengrounds, as she is over 66 years of
age. A Mobility Allowance is payable, under Sent&il of the Health Act 1970, and in
accordance with the terms of an administrative sehdrawn up under Department of Health
Circular 15/79, to persons with a severe disabilibp are resident at home or in a long stay
facility. Payment of the Allowance is subject tmaans test. The scheme specifies that to
be eligible, applicants must be aged 16 yearsdmrand under 66 years. Recipients of the
Allowance can continue to receive payment aftey tikach the age of 66, provided they
were in receipt of it prior to their 66th birthday.

An issue of concern to the Ombudsman, arising fn@emexamination of this complaint, is
whether the eligibility criteria for Mobility Allovance, as set out in the Minister's "directions"
(Circular 15/79), might be deemed to be impropdrseriminatory in two respects. The first
and most fundamental concern is that the Allowase®t available at all to a person who
applies after the age of 66 years. It is cleatr e Allowance discriminates against
applicants over the age of 66 years and, on treedait would seem that this restriction is
"improperly discriminatory"” in the sense in whidhstterm is used in section 4(2) of the
Ombudsman Act 1980. A related concern is thateélg&iction may not comply with the
provisions of the Equal Status Act 2000. In tloamection, in August 2008, the Equality
Authority found that a woman had been discriminatgdinst when it ruled in her favour in a
case she had brought to the Authority, againsHBE, when she was refused a grant under a
similar scheme (Motorised Transport Grant) on ttoaigds that she was over 66 years of age
(see details attached).



The second concern is that the Allowance discritemavithin the over 66 age group in that a
person already benefiting from allowance before@®will continue to get the Allowance
after 66 years, whereas a person over 66, notglfeanefiting, is excluded from the scheme.
Again, this restriction would seem, on the fac&,db be "improperly discriminatory” in the
sense in which this term is used in section 4(2ZhefOmbudsman Act 1980.

This Office recently wrote to the Office of the NBter for Disability and Mental Health
(OMDMH) in your Department, outlining the Ombudsrsatoncerns and seeking its views
on the question of whether, in light of the abatejas considered appropriate to continue to
retain a qualifying upper age limit for eligibilitynder the Mobility Allowance scheme. In its
response, the OMDMH noted that Mobility Allowanseoine of the income support schemes,
operated by the HSE, scheduled for transfer t@y@artment of Social and Family Affairs.
As part of this process it said that it is intentiedeview the policy and operation relating to
it prior to transfer. However, pending the outcamhéhis review, it advised that the HSE

will continue to operate the Allowance in accordamath the Circular 15/79 and that it is not
envisaged that any changes will be made to thenaiwe prior to carrying out of the review.
In conclusion the OMDMH said that, while it appgeid the issues and concerns raised by
the Ombudsman, it was not feasible to amend thensetio remove the upper age limit in the
current economic climate.

Given the contents of the response received frenODMH, the Ombudsman had asked
that | write to you to express her ongoing disquigh regard to the potential for unfair
discrimination arising from the way in which the Mity Allowance scheme currently
operates. She has asked me to advise that shejydteciates that the removal of the upper
age limitper secould, potentially, increase the numbers of thdiggée for the Allowance

and that any increase in the numbers qualifyingHerAllowance could add to the costs of
the administration of the scheme. She also ackeabyds that your Department is entitled
and obligated to regulate eligibility for the Allanwce in a manner so as to ensure that the
benefits of the scheme are targeted on those hatigteatest need, while at the same time
ensuring that costs of operating the scheme aretaiaéd at a manageable level, in keeping
with the budget allocated for this purpose. Ndtgtianding this, the Ombudsman is of the
view that the operation of any such regulatory psscshould be seen to be fair, impartial,
reasonable and compliant with existing legislatiéter considered opinion is that the
limitations placed on eligibility for the Allowangcéhrough the application of an upper age
limit, may be deemed not to meet these standards.

| would welcome your observations on this matter.

Yours sincerely

Pat Whelan
Director General



PROFIRL S ANTE AGss LRapil Difig an Ard Rumei

Department of ce o
:)H...mmm.-.... S S @

ad
7 Movember 2000

oo retere e _

Pat Whelan s . . 4
Director General LEE PR ]
Office of the Ombudsman Informuli..a Commissioner
1B Lower Leeson 5t
Dublin 2 03 NOV 2009

et Received
Diear ML Wiclan

I refer 1o your cormespondence regarding s complaint on behalf of
regurding the Mobility Allowance. The delay in replying 1o your correspondence is
regretted.

1 acte your commenis that the age limit which applies for this allowance appears, on
the face of it, to be improperly discriminatory. | also welcome your accepiance that
this Department is entitled and obligated to regulate eligibility in a way which targets
the benefits at those in grestest need within the available budget

This Department 15 undertaking 8 review of the Mobility Allowance in the context of
overall Government policy regarding supporis for people with a disability The issue
you have reised will be taken into account in the review,

I will inform you of the oucome of this Department s review of the BMobility
Allowance as scon as possible.

Yours sincerely

ek ak

Michael Scanlan
Secretary General
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